Henri Palomäki

EUROPEAN CROWDLENDING PLATFORMS: EVALUATING RISKS AND COMPARING PLATFORMS FROM INVESTORS' PERSPECTIVE

Master's Thesis Finance April 2019

UNIVERSITY OF OULU Oulu Business School

ABSTRACT OF THE MASTER'S THESIS

Author Palomäki Henri Title European crowdlending perspective Subject Finance Abstract Lending-based crowdfu class for investors to inv lenders with each other,	y platforms: Evaluating risks a Type of the degree Master's Degree	Supervisor Sahlström Petri, Prof and comparing platforms Time of publication May 2019	Sessor of Accounting from investors'
Title European crowdlending perspective Subject Finance Abstract Lending-based crowdfu class for investors to inv lenders with each other,	g platforms: Evaluating risks a Type of the degree Master's Degree	Time of publication May 2019	from investors'
Subject Finance Abstract Lending-based crowdfu class for investors to inv lenders with each other,	Type of the degree Master's Degree	Time of publication May 2019	Number of pages
Lending-based crowdfu class for investors to inv lenders with each other,	nding has been growing rapid		61
have plenty of options t and business loans, thro unfortunately, the literar focuses on introducing, comparing crowdlendin how to evaluate and mit platforms. Further, the s platform practices.	vest in. A number of intermed called crowdlending platforr o invest in different kind of h pugh lending platforms. Platfor ture regarding lending platfor discussing and evaluating the g platforms from investors' p tigate the risks that investors a study provides a wide overvie	diaries connecting potent ms, have been founded a high-yielding loans, for in form selection is crucial for ms is scarce. Therefore, e key risks related to cro berspective. The study and are facing when investin ew of European crowdlen and comprises of two dif	ial borrowers and cross Europe. Investor istance consumer loan or investors but this seminal study wdlending and iswers to the question g through lending inding market and
questionnaire responses from public sources inc. crowdlending market is platforms can control ar practices, which makes investing in this relative the weak availability of comparison challenging platforms before investi relevant factors when ev	from 19 European crowdlend luding 108 European lending diverse including various but nd mitigate most of the risks b platform selection the most c ely new asset class. Remarkab data complicates investors' e g. Therefore, I suggest that inv ing, and this study give a usef valuating risks and comparing	ding platforms and (ii) h platforms. Findings of t siness models, loans and by high-class risk policie erucial decision for invest ble is that the lack of plat evaluation process and m vestors perform a holistic ful framework for investor g platforms with each oth	and-collected data he study show that the practices. The es and by good-quality tors to make when form transparency and takes platform-level to due diligence for tors to pay attention to her.

Keywords Crowdfunding Platforms, P2P Lending, Alternative Investments Additional information

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to thank Eero Okkolin for assisting me a lot during the research process, specifically with the collection of the data. Your help was crucial in terms of getting the thesis done on schedule. I thank my employer Sijoittaja Group, especially the partners Hannu Huuskonen and Matias Itkonen, for giving me the idea of the topic of the thesis, for enabling Eero's contribution to the research process, and for organizing enough time for myself to finish the thesis. I also thank my dear friend David Royle for proofreading the thesis and for the valuable discussion we had in the end of the process.

Oulu, April 2019

Henri Palomäki

CONTENTS

1	INT	RODUCTION	7
	1.1	Previous Literature	9
2	CRO	OWDFUNDING	. 12
	2.1	The Definition of Crowdfunding	. 12
	2.2	Forms of Crowdfunding	. 13
	2.3	The Crowdfunding Market	. 15
	2.4	Crowdfunding Platform Dynamics	. 17
3	CRO	OWDLENDING PLATFORMS	. 19
	3.1	Types of Crowdlending	. 19
	3.2	Crowdlending in Europe	. 21
	3.3	Platform's Credit Scoring Process	. 23
4	RIS	KS IN CROWDLENDING	. 27
	4.1	Credit Risk	. 27
	4.2	Platform Risk	. 28
	4.3	Information Risk	. 29
	4.4	Liquidity Risk	. 30
	4.5	Regulatory Risk	30
	4.6	Other Risks	. 31
5	DA	FA AND METHODOLOGY	34
	5.1	Data	34
	5.2	Methodology	. 35
	5.3	Limitations	. 35
6	EM	PIRICAL STUDY AND RESULTS	37
	6.1	Data Description	37
	6.2	Credit Risk Evaluation	40

		6.2.1	Credit Scoring Process	40
	6.3	Platfo	rm Risk Evaluation	44
		6.3.1	Transparency	44
		6.3.2	Skin-in-the-game and Platforms' Business Models	45
		6.3.3	Supervision and Regulation	46
		6.3.4	Loan Agreements and Disaster Policy	47
	6.4	Other	Risks	47
		6.4.1	Platform Risk Evaluation	47
		6.4.2	Interest Rate Risk Evaluation	48
		6.4.3	Other Risks	48
7	INV	ESTO	RS' CHALLENGES IN CROWDLENDING MARKET	51
8	CO	NCLUS	SION	53
RF	FER	ENCES	5	55
AP	PEN	DICES		

Appendix 1	. The Questionnaire Sheet	59
------------	---------------------------	----

FIGURES

Figure 1. Crowdfunding volumes worldwide (Modified, Ziegler et al. 2018c, p. 22)	16
Figure 2. Platforms by year founded and amount of capital raised, the questionnaire.	39

TABLES

Table 1. Crowdfunding categorized by model (Ziegler et al. 2018b, p. 24)
Table 2. Selected statistics of online alternative finance in 2017 (B. Zhang et al. 2018; Ziegleret al. 2018a; Ziegler et al. 2018b; Ziegler et al. 2018c).
Table 3. Crowdfunding volumes by model in Europe (B. Zhang et al. 2018, Ziegler et al.2018c).
Table 4. Proportion of institutionalization in Europe by model (B. Zhang et al. 2018; Ziegler et al. 2018c).
Table 5. Distribution of the questionnaire respondents. 37
Table 6. Distribution of platforms in the hand-collected dataset
Table 7. Platforms by year founded and amount of raised capital, the hand-collected dataset.
Table 8. Platforms' credit scoring process, the questionnaire. 41
Table 9. Platform characteristics, the hand-collected dataset. 43
Table 10. Platform characteristics, the questionnaire. 44
Table 11. Loan pricing mechanism, both datasets. 49

1 INTRODUCTION

Crowdfunding as a form of financing has become much more prevalent in the last decade. The most common form of crowdfunding is crowdlending, or peer-to-peer lending (P2P lending), where individuals or professional investors lend money to consumers and small businesses. For capital seekers, crowdlending is an alternative channel for borrowing; for investors, crowdlending presents an opportunity to lend money and gain a return on their investment. Since 2005, when the first P2P consumer lending platform *Zopa* was launched, several crowdlending platforms, where potential borrowers and lenders can meet have been started. Investors have plenty of platforms to choose from, but they differ a lot from each other when evaluating their geographical location, the type of loans they intermediate, credit scoring process and their own exposure to the loans that they take on the platform.

Considering the current investing environment where bond yields are low, crowdlending offers an attractive alternative asset class for investors, in terms of high returns and good diversification. Institutional investors have also noticed the rise of the phenomenon, and P2P lending is already recognized as a new asset class in institutional investor's portfolio. For instance, Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance (CCAF) found in their yearly industry report that in Europe in 2016, with the exception of the UK, the proportion of institutional investment grew from 26 to 45% in P2P consumer lending and from 24% to 29% in P2P business lending (Ziegler et al. 2018c). In addition to lucrative yields, crowdlending offers portfolio diversification, low correlation and easy access to consumer and small business loans. However, the number of P2P lending platforms is continuously increasing which means that investors have many different options to invest in this new asset class. Therefore, there is a need to investigate crowdlending platforms more comparatively and evaluate the risks related to them from investors' perspective.

The purpose of this study is to identify what are the key risks when investing in lending-based crowdfunding in Europe. The selection of the platforms through which to invest in this asset class is vital, and this study covers factors which investors should evaluate before selecting the platform. The goal is to identify some common features which make one crowdlending platform riskier than others from an investor's perspective. Further, this study gives an investor an overview of the current European crowdlending market and the different operators within it.

According to CCAF, the year-on-year growth in P2P consumer lending in Europe was 90% in 2016 and in P2P business lending 65% (Ziegler et al. 2018c). Although the growth of the market has started to gradually decrease, crowdlending still has much potential to grow. However, there is a gap in the literature around this kind of research, since there are only few studies that evaluate platforms with each other from an investor's point of view. Many studies focus on loan success rates and a default risk of single loans instead of evaluating platforms from the investor's perspective.

Since an extensive platform-level study about lending-based crowdfunding does not yet exist, I decided to experimentally investigate it with following research questions:

What kind of lending-based crowdfunding platforms exist in Europe?

What are the key risks for investors when investing in lending-based crowdfunding?

How to compare and evaluate risks related to crowdlending platforms?

The comparison of the platforms was done by observing platforms' practices regarding due diligence processes, transparency, data collection and business model. The data of the study consists of two separate datasets: a questionnaire consisting of responses of 19 European lending platforms and the hand-collected dataset including 108 observations. The study was done with the cooperation with a Finnish company called Investment Intelligence Oy.

The findings of the study indicate that the key risks for investors in crowdlending are credit risk, platform risk, liquidity risk, regulatory risk and interest rate risk. Platforms can control most of the risks and since most of the investments are made by auto-selection tools, the most crucial decision for investors is to select the platform through which to invest. However, the comparability of platforms turned out to be relatively difficult and if an investor truly wants to understand the risks and returns that a platform offers, one must perform a holistic due diligence for a platform. The main

reasons for this are the diversity of the European lending market making the comparability of platforms challenging, the lack of transparency of the platforms and the weak availability of good-quality data in general.

This study contributes to the existing literature by breaking ground with its originality within the scarce research of crowdlending platforms. The study opens the risks related to lending-based crowdfunding and lending platforms from investors' perspective and creates a framework for future researchers how to compare and evaluate lending platforms. When investing in P2P loans, platform selection is the investor's most important decision. After having a solid understanding of the risks, investors should naturally evaluate returns that the platforms offer. That would require digging way more deeply in platforms' credit scoring process and loan books, and therefore, I leave that question to be answered for future researchers.

1.1 Previous Literature

Crowdfunding is a recent phenomenon and the literature, while increasing, is not yet comprehensive. There is, however, several paths that researchers have taken. Crowdfunding and the economics behind it have been studied by multiple researchers (Agrawal, Catalini & Goldfarb 2014; Belleflamme, Lambert & Schwienbacher 2014; Moenninghoff & Wieandt 2013; Mollick 2014). Further, Kallio and Vuola (2018) published an extensive piece of work about crowdfunding in general, and also Moritz and Block (2016) provide a comprehensive literature review of the current situation of academic research in crowdfunding. Crowdfunding intermediaries have also been studied from different perspectives. Haas, Blohm and Leimeister (2014) distinguished between crowdfunding platforms which differ in their value proposition, whereas Belleflamme, Omrani and Peitz (2015) explored different business models of platforms and Gedda, Nilsson, Såthén and Søilen (2016) discussed finding the optimal platform model for both funders and entrepreneurs.

When overviewing about the literature specifically surrounding lending-based crowdfunding, it covers the topics as funding success (Barasinska & Schäfer 2014, Dorfleitner et al. 2016) and as determinants of borrower's default and credit scoring models (Emekter, Tu, Jirasakuldech & Lu 2015; Polena & Regner 2018; Serrano-

Cinca & Gutiérrez-Nieto 2016; Teply & Polena 2019; Verbraken, Bravo, Weber & Baesens 2014). Also, soft factors and their importance in default risk prediction have been studied (Dorfleitner et al. 2016; Iyer, Khwaja, Luttmer & Shue 2016) as well as rational herding and its positive association with loan performance (Zhang & Liu 2012). The data used in these studies is often from one single platform, such as the US platforms Lending Club or Prosper, since they have a relatively long credit history and a large sample. Additionally, no other platforms have their loan books as publicly available as Lending Club and Prosper have.

There are also a few studies about the comparison of lending platforms practices. For instance, auction model in pricing has been studied (Chen, Ghosh & Lambert 2014). Liu, Qiao, Wang and Li (2019) studied platforms' optimal risk control ability in their recent paper and according to them, proper pricing of loans is a key differentiator of lending platforms. Moreover, Mild, Waitz and Wöckl (2015) argued that a proper risk assessment is the most important task and that investors are unable to set adequate interest rates for borrowers.

Roig Hernando (2016) is one of the only researchers who studied lending-based crowdfunding from portfolio optimization perspective and concludes, that its risk-return combination for both retail and institutional investors is attractive. However, no studies have been made from the investor's point of view in comparing platforms' risks and returns between each other. Most of the studies focus on the loans in one single platform or a default risk of single loans. The fact is, however, that investors usually invest through auto-investment tools rather than selecting loans one-by-one from the platform, especially in consumer lending. Investors lack expertise to model default risk, and selecting loans one-by-one would be time-consuming and inefficient. Therefore, investors in lending-based crowdfunding should be more interested in risks and returns on a platform-level, rather than a loan-level, and the current literature is unable to fill this gap.

Perhaps the biggest problem causing the lack of such literature is the availability and comparability of data. Firstly, the loan books of lending platforms are not the same. Returns, arrears and default rates are reported differently, which means that they are difficult to compare. Second, many lending platforms don't provide loan books for

investors or researchers, nor a precise structure of their credit assessment process. That information is usually highly confidential and is the key competitive differentiator of a platform, so it is understandable for platforms not to open their processes too much. However, the does make the comparison of platforms almost impossible. Third, the world of lending platforms is very diverse, which makes it difficult to evaluate riskadjusted returns and to make conclusions about the best practices.

The paper proceeds as follows. The first chapter is an introductory chapter while the second chapter consists of a theoretical framework of crowdfunding. In the third chapter, crowdlending platforms are introduced and information about various platforms' credit scoring process will be discussed. In the fourth chapter, the risks in crowdlending and how to mitigate them will be outlined, which will also serve as an introductory chapter for the empirical study. The fifth chapter will present the data and methodology, after which, the sixth chapter will present the findings of this study. The seventh and final chapter will discuss the challenges that investors are facing in crowdlending market then our findings will be summarised in the conclusion.

2 CROWDFUNDING

Crowdfunding is a relatively new and rapidly growing method of delivering capital into the economy without the standard financial intermediaries from individuals or companies who have surplus capital to other individuals or companies seeking investment. Previously, banks and other financial intermediaries have been in between the process, taking deposits from surplus companies and households and lending money to deficit companies and households. In crowdfunding, the funds are invested directly from the funders to the fundraisers, without traditional financial intermediaries. Fundraising is usually done online on a platform, which connects fundraisers and funders. Parties involved in crowdfunding can be classified into three groups: capital seekers, capital providers and intermediaries (Moritz & Block 2016).

The roots of crowdfunding platforms trace back to 2003 when *Artistshare* was founded in the US. It was a reward-based crowdfunding platform where fans of an artists could finance studio recordings or event tours. Fans were then given a ticket on the tour as a return on their investment. Later in 2005, the world's first P2P lending platform *Zopa* was launched in the UK connecting capital seeking consumers and funders. Since then, the crowdfunding market and especially the crowdlending market has grown rapidly creating a totally new market for borrowers, investors as well as platform operators.

2.1 The Definition of Crowdfunding

The term "crowdfunding" comes originally from the term "crowdsourcing". Crowdsourcing means that a company outsources a certain task to a large, external undefined group of people to get ideas, solutions and feedback, for example, from a new product or for developing corporate activities (Bayus 2013, Belleflamme et al. 2014, Howe 2008, Kleemann et al. 2008). This group of people are usually called the "crowd" and consists of nonexperts, typically consumers (Bayus 2013).

Belleflamme et al. (2014, p. 588) defines crowdfunding as ... "an open call, mostly through the Internet, for the provision of financial resources either in the form of donation or in exchange for the future product or some form of reward to support initiatives for specific purposes". This definition is however, not extensive, since

lending-based crowdfunding, or crowdlending, is also labelled as crowdfunding and this definition excludes lending (Mollick 2014). Mollick provides another, slightly broader definition: "Crowdfunding refers to the efforts by entrepreneurial individuals and groups – cultural, social, and for-profit – to fund their ventures by drawing on relatively small contributions from a relatively large number of individuals using the internet, without standard financial intermediaries." (Mollick 2014, p. 2). Further, Cai (2018, p. 9) combines two definitions and states: "Crowdfunding is an open call to provide financial resources (Schwienbacher & Larralde 2012), which mostly takes place on Internet-based crowdfunding platforms without standard financial intermediaries intermediaries (Mollick 2014)."

A key feature of crowdfunding is that funding comes from a large number of capital providers, i.e. from the crowd. Rather than an institutional investor, a bank, a business angel or another sophisticated investor providing a large amount of capital, funding is raised from a large number of individuals whose single contributions are relatively small. In addition to the crowd, the internet and technology play important roles in crowdfunding. Intermediaries in crowdfunding, usually called crowdfunding platforms or websites, connects fundraisers and funders and provide the means. Platforms are intermediaries and they offer a standardized process to the both parties acting also as a portal for information, communication and execution (Moritz & Block 2016).

2.2 Forms of Crowdfunding

Crowdfunding is still relatively new and an evolving phenomenon and is continuously innovating. Because of its diversity, crowdfunding is often divided into different categories regarding the incentives and the return type of the funding. Belleflamme et al. (2015) divide crowdfunding platforms in two broad classes, which are (i) investment-based platforms and (ii) reward- and donation-based platforms. The classification works also well in crowdfunding in general.

In investment-based crowdfunding, capital providers make an investment and expect monetary benefits, for example shares of the funded company or interest return for the invested capital. The investment can be equity-based, royalty-based or lending-based. In reward- or donation-based crowdfunding, funders are not expecting monetary benefits. Instead, the funders provide capital in order to support good cause or to get a product. (Belleflamme et al. 2015).

The other widely used categorization is De Buysere, Gajda, Kleverlaan, Marom and Klaes' (2012) model, where crowdfunding is divided into four categories: donation, reward, lending and equity. This classification separates equity- and lending-based crowdfunding, which is essential considering on their significantly different nature. Further, CCAF which publishes extensive reports yearly about the world's crowdfunding market, uses more precise models. CCAF divides different models of crowdfunding in 14 categories based on the borrower, use of funds, return type and investment style (see Table 1).

Model	Definition
Marketplace / P2P Consumer	Individuals or institutional funders provide a loan to a
Lending	consumer borrower.
Balance Sheet Consumer Lending	The platform entity provides a loan directly to a
5	consumer borrower.
Marketplace/P2P Business Lending	Individuals or institutional funders provide a loan to a
	business borrower.
Balance Sheet Business Lending	The platform entity provides a loan directly to a business
	borrower.
Marketplace/P2P Property Lending	Individuals or institutional funders provide a loan secured
	against a property to a consumer or business borrower.
Real Estate Crowdfunding	Individuals or institutional funders provide equity or
	subordinated-debt financing for real estate.
Equity-based Crowdfunding	Individuals or institutional funders purchase equity
	issued by a company.
Balance Sheet Property Lending	The platform entity provides a loan secured against a
	property directly to a consumer or business borrower.
Invoice Trading	Individuals or institutional funders purchase invoices or
	receivable notes from a business at a discount.
Revenue Sharing/Profit Sharing	Individuals or institutions purchase securities from a
Crowdfunding	company, such as shares or bonds, and share in the
	profits or royalties of the business.
Debt-based Securities	Individuals or institutional funders purchase debt-based
	securities, typically a bond or debenture at a fixed interest
x	
Wini-Donds	Individuals or institutions purchase securities from
Demand hased Coundfording	Destrue movide funding to individuals mainets on
Reward-Dased Crowdlunding	Backers provide funding to individuals, projects of
	products
Donation based Crowdfunding	Donors provide funding to individuals, projects or
Donation-Dascu Crowurununing	companies based on philanthronic or civic motivations
	with no expectation of monetary or material return

Table 1. Crowdfunding categorized by model (Ziegler et al. 2018b, p. 24)

Crowdfunding enables individual investors to invest in asset classes such as private equity, private debt and consumer loans. Previously, those asset classes have not been easily accessible with a small investment portfolio. For investors, lending-based crowdfunding has actually created a totally new alternative financial investment instrument (Cai 2018). It has also been named as a new alternative asset class, since crowdlending can offer intriguing returns and portfolio diversification not only for individual investors but also for professional investors. For example, Roig Hernando (2016) studied the risks and returns of the loans on a Spanish business lending platform, *Arboribus*, and concluded that loan-based crowdfunding provides a competitive risk-return combination for both institutional and retail investors.

2.3 The Crowdfunding Market

Crowdfunding volumes have increased and continue to increase rapidly across the world. As Figure 1 shows, the Asia-Pacific region dominates the market by volume totaling \notin 221.66 billion in 2016, leaving the Americas and Europe behind, totaling \notin 31.81 billion and \notin 7.67 billion, respectively. China, the US and the UK dominate the volumes inside regions, as China covers 99% of the volume in the Asia-Pacific, the US 98% in the Americas and the UK 73% of the European online alternative finance market in 2016. (Ziegler et al. 2018c). Further, compounded annual growth rate between years 2013 and 2016 have been very high in these three regions, being 277%, 144% and 89%, respectively. The growth, however, has started to slow down from triple-digit to double-digit rates, especially in the most mature markets in the US and the UK.

When comparing the volumes of the different types of crowdfunding, lending-based models accounts the major part of the total market. From Table 2, it can be seen that debt- and lending-based online alternatives cover over 90% of all online alternative finance in the Asia-Pacific, the Americas and the UK, and 78% in rest of the Europe. Instead, equity- and reward-based crowdfunding account for only a small part of the total volumes. Moreover, consumer lending is the biggest model in Asia-Pacific and Americas totalling 66.6% and 68.1% of the total crowdfunding volumes, respectively. In Europe, the proportion of consumer lending is significantly lower, being only 22.6% in the UK and 34.6% in the rest of the Europe.



Figure 1. Crowdfunding volumes worldwide (Modified, Ziegler et al. 2018c, p. 22).

Institutional investors have also recently begun to notice crowdfunding, which has led to an increase of the level of institutionalization in recent years. The proportion of institutional investments are the highest in P2P consumer lending, being as high as 92% in the US and around 40% in Europe, which is shown in Table 2. These results indicate that institutional investors cover the major share of investments in crowdfunding, and in fact, the proportion has been growing year-on-year in every market. Consequently, institutionalization is one of the main drivers in terms of the whole crowdfunding market growth and most likely, professional investors will continue to raise allocations into this asset class also thereafter.

Region	Asia-Pacific	Americas	the UK	Rest of Europe*
Proportion of debt- and lending-based crowdfunding of total funding	99.6%	97.6%	92.6%	78.2%
Proportion of consumer lending of total funding	66.6%	68.1%	22.6%	34.6%
Region		the US	the UK	Rest of Europe*
Proportion of institutionalization of total funding				
Consumer lending		92%	39%	45%
Business lending		75%	40%	29%
Property lending		80%	34%	45%
Invoice trading		-	55%	68%
Equity-based crowdfunding		21%	49%	13%

Table 2. Selected statistics of online alternative finance in 2017 (B. Zhang et al. 2018; Ziegler et al. 2018a; Ziegler et al. 2018b; Ziegler et al. 2018c).

*2016 data

2.4 Crowdfunding Platform Dynamics

The crowdfunding platforms' role in the crowdfunding ecosystem is crucial. Platforms act as market makers in a two-sided market and they serve both capital-seeking and capital-giving agents (Haas et al. 2014). Platforms not only provide the technology backbone linking funders and fundraisers, but also take care of the legal requirements and deal's structure (Beaulieu, Sarker & Sarker 2015). This relatively new and rapidly growing market opportunity has attracted a lot of operators in the market. For example, CCAF collected the data for their 2017 industry reports from Asia-Pacific and Americas from 1003 and 234 crowdfunding platforms, respectively (Ziegler et al. 2018a, Ziegler et al. 2018b). In Europe, 267 platforms were included in the European industry report in 2016 (Ziegler et al. 2018c).

The group of platforms is heterogeneous and business models vary. Belleflamme et al. (2015) studied crowdfunding platforms' business models and divided them to (i) investment-based platforms and (ii) reward- and donation-based platforms. Usually, platforms gain revenue by charging a provision from the borrower based on the amount of raised funding (Kallio & Vuola 2018, p. 72). Moreover, Belleflamme et al. (2015)

introduces three revenue sources. The first source of revenue is from the interest return that platforms get, when funders have provided funding for a certain campaign but the funding round has not yet closed, which accumulates interest return for platforms. Second, a platform may sell add-on services, e.g. campaign marketing on behalf of the fundraiser. Lastly, platforms usually charge a transaction or handling fee, which is based on the amount of raised capital. (Belleflamme et al. 2015). The latter source of revenue is the most common and vital source of revenue for platforms. Additionally, platforms may charge management fees from investors based on the amount of invested capital.

In this paper, the focus is on crowdlending platforms and the evaluation of them from investors' perspective. The dynamics, tasks and risks of lending-based platforms will be discussed more in the next chapter.

3 CROWDLENDING PLATFORMS

The focus of this study will now turn to lending-based crowdfunding, or crowdlending, and lending platforms. Crowdlending is a form of crowdfunding, where investors, or lenders, fund a consumer or a company and get interest return for the capital invested. The main incentive for investors is to receive monetary benefits and this will be the scope of this study. Since the crowdlending market is relatively diverse and still evolving, a short introduction and case examples of different lending platforms is essential. Types of lending platforms as well as the relevant risks for investors, what are affecting them and how to reduce them, will be discussed in this chapter.

3.1 Types of Crowdlending

Crowdlending can be divided in two broad categories by the borrower: business lending and consumer lending. Under this classification, business lending comprises of a variety of different types of financing products including secured and unsecured loans, property loans as well as short-term invoice trading. Risk profiles are generally very diverse and that should be taken into account when investors are considering riskadjusted returns that different loan categories and different platforms offer. In consumer lending, investors provide loans to consumers e.g. to buy a car, to renovate a house or to consolidate loans. Consumer loans are usually unsecured.

Apart from dividing lending by the borrower, lending platforms can also be divided into traditional P2P lending platforms and marketplace platforms. On traditional platforms, investors invest directly with borrower's loans and the debt obligations are made between every single investor and the borrower. In marketplace lending, the investors actually lend money to a credit institution, called a loan originator that has issued a loan and has it on its balance sheet. Usually, in marketplace lending, the investor purchases claim rights from a loan originator to a certain borrower's loan payments which entitles the investor to get debt down payments and interest payments even if the originator goes bust. However, the borrower is officially the credit institution itself, which exposes investors to a relatively different risk position than in traditional P2P lending. Often, credit institutions offer a 100% buyback guarantee if the actual borrower defaults, which on the other hand, also secures investors position. Marketplace lending has been growing a lot in recent years. Most of the platforms are based in the Baltic countries, as there currently exists little regulation in these countries. For investors, it's crucial to understand the risks related to the loan originator and what will happen if the originator defaults, even though the investors would have bought claim rights to another loan. Due to the fact that European crowdlending market is very diverse across Europe, the following section outlines a number of different case-studies from different European platforms.

Case-study example: P2P Consumer and Business Lending, Fellow Finance

Fellow Finance is a Finland-based lending platform being the biggest lending platform in Nordic countries. The platform's product offering includes consumer loans, small business loans and invoice trading. In the beginning of 2019, borrowers on the platform were from Finland, Sweden, Denmark, Germany and Poland. Fellow Finance performs a credit assessment on every applicant and if they pass, the loan is rated, and the funding round is then opened on the platform. The interest rate is set in an auction process between investors. The investor invests directly in the loan of the borrower and the debt agreement is made between every single lender and the borrower.¹

Case-study example: P2P Marketplace Lending, Mintos

Mintos is a Latvian-based P2P Marketplace platform for consumer loans and small business loans. Instead of performing a credit assessment process on every single loan and issuing loans itself, Mintos creates a marketplace for different loan originators and retail investors. First, actual borrowers apply for a loan from a loan originator, and the originator performs the credit scoring of the applicant. Second, if the loan is issued, the originator keeps the loan on its own balance sheet and list the loan in the Mintos marketplace, where investors can invest in it. There are two types of structures in investments with Mintos. In the direct structure, investors are buying claim rights against the borrower, while in the indirect structure, direct claim is against the loan originator. Mintos performs due diligence for each loan originator, rates them and

¹ www.fellowfinance.fi

maintains statistics about the loans at originator-level. In March 2019, Mintos had 60 loan originators from 29 different countries.²

Case-study example: P2P Property Lending, Crowdproperty

Crowdproperty is a lending platform based in the UK and is focused on short-term property loans for small and medium-sized enterprises (SME). The platform is specialized in funding property development projects such as refurbishment finance or bridging finance. The platform performs due diligence for each project applying funding and if it meets the requirements, the loan is issued on the platform. All the loans are asset-backed against the property.³

It is apparent from our case-studies that investor's risk exposure varies a lot between different types of crowdlending. For example, both Fellow Finance and Mintos have consumer loans and SME loans on their platform, but in Mintos the investor actually lends the funds to the loan originator, not to the borrower. Therefore, the counterparty risk in marketplace lending is very different, especially in the indirect structure of the investment. Further, the risk exposure in business loans varies, as can be seen when comparing property lending and P2P Business Lending. In property or real estate lending, the loans are asset-backed with the property for which the loan is raised, whereas small business loans are usually not asset-backed. Risks concerning on crowdlending in general will be discussed later in this chapter.

3.2 Crowdlending in Europe

The UK is the forerunner in European crowdlending market having the largest volumes and most advanced regulation. In 2016, the UK represented 73% of the total €7.6 billion crowdfunding volume in the Europe, following France, Germany, Netherlands

² www.mintos.com

³ www.crowdproperty.com

and Finland when comparing the countries by volume. As shown in Table 2, almost 90% of the total volume in Europe is lending- or debt-based crowdfunding.

Model	Rest of Europe, 2016	the UK, 2017
P2P Consumer Lending	33.8%	22.7%
P2P Business Lending	17.0%	32.9%
Invoice Trading	12.2%	12.7%
P2P Property Lending	4.6%	19.7%
Real Estate Crowdfunding	5.3%	3.4%
Equity-based Crowdfunding	10.6%	5.4%
Reward-based Crowdfunding	9.2%	0.7%
Other	7.3%	2.5%
Total Volume	€2.1 billion	€7.06 billion

Table 3. Crowdfunding volumes by model in Europe (B. Zhang et al. 2018, Ziegler et al. 2018c).

Table 3 displays that P2P consumer lending and P2P business lending covers over half of the total online alternative finance volumes. In Europe excl. the UK, consumer lending has the biggest share with a 33.8% stake, whereas in the UK, P2P business lending dominates with the share of 32.9%. Interestingly, property lending is a much more widely used form of crowdfunding than in rest of the Europe, with the shares being 19.7% and 4.6%, respectively. Invoice trading has almost equal proportions in both regions. Further, equity-based and reward-based crowdfunding have significantly larger shares in rest of Europe than in the UK.

Proportion of Institutionalization by model	Rest of Europe		the UK		
Year	2015	2016	2015	2016	2017
P2P Consumer Lending	26 %	45 %	32 %	32 %	39 %
P2P Business Lending	24 %	29 %	26 %	28 %	40 %
Invoice Trading	37 %	68 %	-	-	55 %
P2P Property Lending	-	45 %	25 %	25 %	34 %
Real Estate Crowdfunding	-	26 %	-	-	33 %
Equity-based Crowdfunding	8 %	13 %	8 %	25 %	49 %

Table 4. Proportion of institutionalization in Europe by model (B. Zhang et al. 2018; Ziegler et al.2018c).

Due to the fact that lending-based crowdfunding has offered attractive returns over recent years, many professional investors have started to invest through lending platforms. Especially in the current environment of low interest rates, professional investors are seeking alternative investments. As can be seen in Table 4, the share of professional investors is continuously growing in Europe, which drives the growth of the whole market and underlines the fact that professional investors find the market extremely attractive. For instance, Ziegler et al. (2018c) report that the proportion of institutional investments in P2P Consumer Lending grew rapidly from 26% to 45% between 2015 and 2016 in Europe, excluding the UK. In the UK, the institutional-led investments' proportion in 2017 was slightly less, totalling 39% but the share has been growing (B. Zhang et al. 2018). In business lending, the shares are also growing, being already at 40% level in the UK in 2017. The largest shares of institutionalization are in property lending and invoice trading.

At the moment, the UK dominates the European online alternative finance market having the oldest and largest crowdlending market with the most advanced regulation. The growth of the UK market, however, has been decreasing in recent years being in 2016 and 2017 43% and 35%, respectively (B. Zhang et al. 2018). The rest of Europe is growing faster, at 101% in 2016, and the growth will likely continue into the near future in comparison with the UK.

3.3 Platform's Credit Scoring Process

Lending platform's role in the whole crowdlending ecosystem is crucial. Usually platforms acts as a trusted intermediary who (i) collects funds from lenders and transfers them to borrowers and (ii) takes care that the debt down payments and interest payments from borrowers to lenders are paid on time (Kallio & Vuola 2018, p. 72). Moreover, platforms offers standardized process to both parties acting also as a portal for information and communication as well as taking care of the legal requirements and deal's structure (Beaulieu et al. 2015, Moritz & Block 2016).

From an investor's point of view, however, possibly the most important task for lending platforms is to select good-quality borrowers on the platform. Usually, a prospective borrower can't just open a financing round on a platform, but she first has to pass the platform's credit assessment process. The platform screens the loan applications and disqualifies applications which don't meet platform's lending requirements. The platform evaluates the creditworthiness of the borrower, meaning the ability and the willingness to repay the loan and decides if the applicant may open a funding round on the platform (Kallio & Vuola 2018, p. 73). If the borrower meets the requirements, the loan is rated and opened on the platform. This assessment process is also called "due diligence" or "credit scoring".

Liu et al. (2019) studied lending platforms' risk control ability and argue that it has become the key differentiator between lending platforms. By risk control ability is meant the ability of the platforms to classify loans into different risk buckets according to their creditworthiness and hence the ability to predict loan defaults. The ability to classify loans accurately helps platforms to manage credit risk better, since the interest rate moves hand-in-hand with the riskiness of the loan. (Liu et al. 2019). The higher the risk associated to the loan, the higher interest rate the borrower must pay. Mild et al. (2015) studied loan pricing in peer-to-peer lending platforms. Further, they state that adequate pricing of credit risk is "... *a prerequisite for the long-term survival of this financial vehicle.*"(Mild et al. 2015, p. 1297). Further, according to Ziegler et al. (2018c), the platform's own due-diligence process, credit scoring and management are crucial to the success of the platform.

Every platform has their own credit assessment process, which is usually highly classified information. The platform may differentiate itself with high-quality duediligence process from other platforms and are therefore not very transparent with their procedures. However, usually the credit scoring relies on the assessment of multiple financial factors added by the analysis of soft information such as management experience. Typically, financial factors in consumer lending include credit rating from external rating agencies, debt-to-income ratio, house-ownership status and other detailed information about the borrower's monthly income and expenses (Bachmann et al. 2011). In business lending, financial factors are often related to liquidity, profitability and solvency. Further, when dealing with secured loans such as property loans, a proper assessment of the underlying security is crucial (Ziegler et al. 2018c).

Many academic studies focus on finding the determinants of a defaulter in P2P consumer lending. Polena and Regner (2018) find that annual income, debt-to-income

ratio, inquiries in past 6 months and certain loan purposes such as credit card and small business are statistically significant factors to determine consumer loan defaults. Further, Serrano-Cinca and Gutiérrez-Nieto (2016) find that loan purpose, annual income, current housing situation, credit history and borrower indebtedness also act as explanatory factors for default. Emekter et al. (2015) show from LendingClub data that credit grade, debt-to-income ratio, FICO score and revolving line utilization are determinants for loan default, but interestingly they find, that higher interest rates don't compensate the higher risk that investors are exposed when investing in high-risk loans.

There is also a substantial amount of default prediction studies for businesses and naturally, financial ratios play the most important role. After Altman (1968) introduced the groundbreaking Z-score, many researcher have enhanced and developed complementary models for predicting corporate defaults. Usually, the models measure corporate's profitability, liquidity and solvency. One of the oldest and largest P2P business lending platform's in the world, Funding Circle (2018), states in its initial public offering registration document, that its credit scoring process is a combination of automated work and human judgement. Funding Circle, based in the UK, uses algorithmic models to categorize loans into risk buckets and to price the loans according their risk levels. The main variables in the assessment process consists of multiple financial ratios, scores from credit bureaus, company and directors' credit history and bank account information. The data is collected from the borrower as well as from third parties, e.g. credit bureau providers. The performance of the pricing model is continuously monitored, components validated and the model enhanced. (Funding Circle 2018).

If a platform's credit scoring process has a significant influence on investor's returns, then so does debt collection and recoveries management. By debt collection, what is meant is the management and collecting of late payments, whereas a loan recovery means that a loan which has once defaulted recovers and will paid back at some time period. Depending on the platform, debt collection and recoveries are organized by the platform itself or by a third party. Funding Circle manages both processes mostly by itself, having its own team for both processes and monitors late and defaulted loans on a daily basis. The UK-based platform states that they have a high historical recovery rate, being as high as 49% in the UK loans. (Funding Circle 2018). The Finnish crowdlending platform, Fellow Finance, also takes care of managing late payments, but after a couple of payment requests, the loans are expired and sold to a third-party debt collector. Therefore, credit risk associated to loans is limited. In March 2019, the selling prices were at 53% and 30% of the face value of the loans in Finland and Poland, respectively.

The importance of the quality of a platform's credit scoring process, or risk control ability, for investors is huge, since most of the investments in crowdlending market are made by using the platforms' auto-invest tool. It means, that investors are not analyzing and selecting loans one-by-one, but the investments are done automatically with the platform's tool. In particular, an investor pre-selects investment amounts, risk appetites and the duration of the loans, and afterwards the platform efficiently diversifies funds according to investor's preferences automatically (Ziegler et al. 2018c). For example, in 2016, in Europe (excluding the UK), 77% of all investments in P2P consumer loans was done with an auto-invest tool (Ziegler et al. 2018c). In the UK and in the US, the proportion of auto-selection in consumer loans is even greater, totalling 99% (B. Zhang et al. 2018, Ziegler et al. 2017). In P2P business loans the auto-bids covers also 99% in the UK in 2017 but only 49% in rest of Europe in 2016, whereas in invoice trading proportions are around 70 percent and property and real estate lending less than a half (B. Zhang et al. 2018, Ziegler et al. 2018c).

High proportions of investments by auto-selection emphasize the fact that the platform's credit scoring process and borrower selection is extremely crucial from an investor's perspective. Platforms are in control in pricing the risks correctly, and the ability to price the loans properly will directly affect the investor's returns. However, digging into platforms credit scoring processes and comparing them with each other is not easy, since platforms are not willing to open up the assessment process and pricing too much.

In addition to credit risk, investors face a plenty of other risks related to platforms and lending in general. These risks will be discussed in the next chapter.

4 RISKS IN CROWDLENDING

From an investor's point of view, while crowdlending or peer-to-peer lending provides attractive returns, it is not without risk. It's crucial to understand the risks related to loans and platforms when comparing platforms and returns that they offer between each other. Investors are also able to diminish the risks by performing sufficient background checks for platforms.

Kallio and Vuola (2018, p. 66) list default risk, platform risk, information risk, fraud risk, liquidity risk, systemic risk and information security risk as potential risks that investors should be aware of with crowdfunding. This list could be supplemented at least with interest rate risk and regulatory risk. Investors are able to diminish many of these risks by choosing good-quality lending platforms, since the platform has the control of the lending process in general.

4.1 Credit Risk

Credit risk or default risk is naturally a lender's key risk in crowdlending. Credit risk means that the investor's capital is at risk, and that the investor may not get the invested capital or planned interest payments back from the borrower. There might also be delays in the repayment program and the profit may be lower than expected. Platforms can manage default risk with a high-class risk policies and with a large portfolio diversification (Roig Hernando 2016).

In addition to the accurate loan classification ability that was discussed previously, credit risk can be mitigated by multiple other actions. First, loans might be assetbacked by a property, a loan originator or a sales invoice. Second, some platforms have arranged agreements to sell the loans at a discount to a third-party debt collector. For example, Fellow Finance sells defaulted Finnish loans at a 53% price of the face value to a third party, which limits the lender's credit risk. Third, platforms might have a compensation fund, or a provision fund, to protect investors from poorly performing loans. For example, P2P Lending platform Ratesetter provides a provision fund for investors, which covers investors' defaulted outstanding capital.⁴

When taking into account that platforms usually get their earnings based on the amount of raised funding, it places platforms in a morally hazardous position (Kallio & Vuola 2018, p. 72). Theoretically, the platform might prop up their own financials temporarily by allowing bad-quality borrowers to raise funds on a platform (Kallio & Vuola 2018, p. 74). Naturally, it might have a negative influence on an investor's returns, if the amount of defaulted loans increases. This risk can be reduced if the platform itself invests also in the loans on the platform. If the platform's own capital is also exposed to the loan performance, the possibility to take bad-quality borrowers on the platform in order to grow revenue is less attractive. The proportion of the platform's own investments to the loans, also called skin-in-the-game, is a good measurement when evaluating the platforms own risk on the loans on the platform. Alternatively, platforms could have a business model where a platform's revenue streams would be more performance-related, rather than transaction-based.

4.2 Platform Risk

Kallio and Vuola (2018, p. 66) defines *platform risk* as a risk, that the platform would be shut down temporarily or that it defaults permanently. This risk is especially relevant when considering lending platforms, since the platform usually takes care of the payment traffic between the borrowers and lenders. According to Kallio and Vuola (2018, p. 67), platforms can mitigate the risk that lenders are facing by keeping customers' accounts separated from the platforms assets or outsourcing the whole payment traffic to a third party.

A question that an investor should pose to the platform they are investing in is, "what happens to the loans and payment traffic, if the platform defaults?" Usually, investors have hundreds or thousands of loans in their portfolio, which means that the governance of the loans would be extremely complex without an intermediary. Many

⁴ https://www.ratesetter.com/invest/investing-with-us/provision-fund

platforms have agreements with third parties, which would take care of the payments from borrowers to lenders if the platforms stops operating. For example, Funding Circle says in its stock exchange registration document, that it has arranged back-up plans in case of platform's shut down, which means that a third-party would take care of servicing obligations (Funding Circle 2018).

Furthermore, platform risk may be smaller if the company is regulated by an official authority, which usually enhances investor protection. Many of the more mature crowdlending markets have their own regulatory body or a jurisdiction for crowdfunding, but especially in newer local lending markets where crowdlending is still a relatively new trend there might not be any regulation or supervision for platforms. If no regulations or supervision apply or in addition to that, platforms might have other memberships in self-regulatory bodies or other certificates of good conduct. For example, in the UK Peer-to-Peer Finance Association is a self-regulatory body for peer-to-peer lending platforms, where the members are required to follow association's rules regarding for instance, transparency and good conduct.⁵

4.3 Information Risk

Information risk means the asymmetric information between the borrower and the lender or the platform. Bachmann et al. (2011) names asymmetric information as a fundamental problem of crowdlending, since the borrower always has better knowledge of his ability and willingness to repay the loan. When compared with initial public offerings or other more regulated and transparent forms of financing, the information risk in crowdfunding is higher. Usually, part of the borrower's information is self-reported and part from third-party sources such as credit bureaus.

One consequence of the realization of this risk is that it may lead to subprime borrowers passing the credit assessment process and ending up to investor's portfolio. (Kallio & Vuola 2018, p. 67). The information offered by the borrowers is not necessarily credible or verified, which makes credit assessment more difficult for

⁵ https://www.p2pfa.org.uk/

lenders and platforms (Liu et al. 2019). Data quality problem is also one of the key issues of lending platforms and both Fellow Finance and Funding Circle name it as a key risk of platform operations (Fellow Finance 2018, Funding Circle 2018). Moreover, funders can't control how the fundraiser actually uses the funds (Belleflamme et al. 2015). Platforms have an important role in reducing the risk of asymmetric information between lenders and borrowers. Generally speaking, the more detailed information the platform receives from the borrower, the lower the risk that asymmetric information may be.

4.4 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk in crowdlending means the risk that there is no secondary market for the loans which makes loans illiquid and not easily convertible into cash (Kallio & Vuola 2018, p.69). Platforms can mitigate this risk by organizing a secondary market for the loans, where investors can trade previously issued loans. However, not all platforms offer a secondary market for the loans in their marketplace. Additionally, the platforms who offer a secondary market usually charge investors for using it or lenders might have to send the loan at discount, which makes it costly. For example, Fellow Finance charges a 1% fee from the lender if the loan is sold at the secondary market.

If an asset is illiquid, investors usually demand an illiquidity premium for the asset. Basically, this means that the returns must be higher. When taking this to a lending platform environment, if there are two platforms and the other offers a secondary market for the loans and the other do not, investors should demand higher returns from the latter platform's loans, when all else is equal.

4.5 Regulatory Risk

Changes in the regulatory environment and laws may affect the crowdlending market. *Regulatory risk* is a relevant risk for European investors since the whole market is still relatively young, meaning that the regulation and laws are still under development. Regulatory changes usually improve investors' protection and enhance good practices within the market. However, there can also been unforeseen and negative consequences. For example, in 2018, the Finnish government (HE 230/2018 vp.)

suggested that the maximum interest rate for consumer loans should be set at 30% per annum. The Commerce Committee (TaVM 39/2018 vp.) sought to set the interest rate even lower, at 20%. This change would immediately have an influence on consumer lending platforms which offer loans at higher rate than 20% by cutting the amount of loans intermediated through the platform or, by cutting investors' returns by admitting high-risk loans at a lower rate of return.

The regulatory environment in Europe is diverse, since there exists not Europe-wide regulatory standard. Further, the increase in national-level regulation makes, however, a European-level regulation even less likely (European Crowdfunding Network 2017). Many countries, the UK and Finland for instance, have started to build their own laws and regulation. European Crowdfunding Network (2017) states in its report, that 11 EU countries have already implemented national-level regulation on crowdfunding. This creates divergence in the European lending market and the lack of internal European crowdfunding market and regulation restricts European investors to diversify their investments geographically across borders (European Crowdfunding Network 2017, Kallio & Vuola 2018, p. 364). Further, investors' risk exposure may differ significantly when investing in loans across Europe, as protection of investors varies largely from country to country. In the UK the regulator requires multiple actions from platforms for investor protection, such as capital adequacy requirements and arrangements in the event of platform failure. Whereas in Latvia, there also exists multiple marketplace platforms. These platforms, unlike their UK variants are not regulated or supervised by any financial authority and investors are therefore not protected from any wrong-doings or illegal activity. (European Crowdfunding Network 2017). Therefore, it is crucial that investors take into account where the platforms are based and what kind of regulation applies on them, in order to understand the risk related to the platform and its regulatory environment.

4.6 Other Risks

When asked what the greatest concerns from their perspective are, lending platforms name *systemic risk* and *fraud risk*, being an even greater risk than the increasing levels of defaults (Ziegler et al. 2018c). Systemic risk means the risk of contagion, wherein a certain issue in one large company spreads to the entire industry even causing

problems to other industries, financial markets and the economy in general. The risks for *fraud risk* and *information security risk* are high when operating online, which enables anonymity and exposes platforms for various crimes such as identity fraud, information security breaches and money laundering. (Kallio & Vuola 2018, p. 69).

Interest rate risk refers to the risk of fluctuating interest rates. While most of the loans in P2P lending industry are with fixed interest, the nominal interest returns do not fluctuate. However, when interest rates rise, the value of the investment may decrease, and investors would probably want to lend the same money to someone else with higher interest return. Furthermore, depending on the platform policies, borrowers might also be able to prepay loans earlier than expected, which means that future interest payments will not be paid. This is a relevant risk especially when rates are going down, because in that scenario, borrowers might be able to refinance the loan with a lower interest rate. Platforms can set a prepayment fee for the borrower and by doing this, investors would get a compensation to mitigate that risk.

For investors, it is paramount to have a proper understanding of risks related to lending-based crowdfunding and platforms. Some of the risks are external, such as systemic risk, and they will more or less always be there and the possibilities to mitigate them are limited for both investors and platforms. However, most risks can be managed, controlled and mitigated by the proper actions of platforms. As discussed earlier, if investors use an auto-invest tool for making investments, all that they should do is to dig in to platforms' processes and evaluate the quality of the processes when comparing the risks and returns of different platforms. Often, it will require an in-depth investor's due diligence for a platform, since many platforms are opaque.

Platform transparency solves many of the problems that investors are facing when evaluating the risks. Above all, transparency can be seen as a trust-building exercise. Many platforms provide statistics of the loan portfolio performance on their websites, but naturally, the credibility of the statistics is difficult to evaluate. In a best-case scenario, the performance of all loans issued by the platform, called a loan book, is easily accessible for investors for scrutiny, including their track record and realized rates, and then the evaluation and comparison of different platforms is much easier. However, only very few platforms actually give the access to their whole loan book. Further, platforms' business model is crucial for investors to understand, how the platform itself is positioned in the market and what the platform's risk exposure is. A lack of transparency can also be seen in how platforms inform their business model, and it emphasizes the fact that it is highly recommended for investors to perform a holistic due diligence check on the platform before investing.

5 DATA AND METHODOLOGY

5.1 Data

The data in this study consists of two separate datasets: a questionnaire and handcollected data. We sent email requests to 139 European crowdlending platforms which we found after investigating the European lending market. To the best of our knowledge, the group of platforms chosen covers most of the European crowdlending market. The study was made in cooperation with Investment Intelligence Oy. We informed the platforms of our willingness to perform a due diligence process to their platform and additionally asked them to participate in this market research. The request consisted of an online questionnaire sheet (Appendix 1) including 77 questions about platform size, regulation, transparency and credit assessment process.

The response ratio for the questionnaire was 13.6 %, totalling 19 answers. Since the study was made in cooperation with an investment company willing to invest in this asset class, we assumed that platforms would be more interested to answer since there was a clear business opportunity for them. However, the response ratio was lower than expected. Some platforms found our due diligence too heavy and were not keen to start the process. Furthermore, a couple of non-disclosure agreements (NDA) were signed with the platforms, and therefore, the results from the question pattern, will be kept anonymous.

Due to the lack of the questionnaire responses, we gathered additional data for the study by collecting and collating publicly available information from platforms' websites and other publicly available sources. This data includes information about 108 European lending platforms. There are significant differences in the transparency of platforms; some platforms provide a lot of publicly available information while others are much more secretive, providing a limited amount of information. Further, many of the platforms are locally based and do not provide information in English, meaning that the study does not cover all European countries well enough. Hand-collected data does give, however, a good overview of European crowdlending platforms, platform dynamics and their practices.

Additionally, we received fourteen loan books from the platforms. Some platforms provide access to their loan book on their websites and some sent them to us against NDA. However, the comparison of platform returns turned out to be too complex to analyse as to the fact that they are not easily comparable. Additionally, most of the platforms were not willing to share information about their credit scoring process nor their give their loan books for research purposes. Therefore, the return evaluation would have been limited to few platforms, which is not in our scope of interest, since there already exists multiple studies covering, for example, Lending Club's and Prosper's credit risk and returns. Therefore, I focus on the risks related to platforms in order to get a better understanding of the lending platforms in general, and leave the loan book evaluation out of the study.

5.2 Methodology

The research method is mostly qualitative, and the key objective is to evaluate and compare the key risks related to crowdlending outlined in Chapter 4. This study focuses especially on the evaluation of credit risk, platform risk, liquidity risk and regulatory risk. The variables created to evaluate these risks are based on the methods outlined in Chapter 4 and includes both numeric variables, dummy variables and open questions. The results are presented in Chapter 6 as well as the discussed between the two datasets and previous literature.

Due to the fact that lending platforms aren't willing to share confidential information about their credit scoring process, we were not able to make an in-depth analysis of it, although it is by far the most important single factor that investors should evaluate. Instead, the study gives an overview of the European lending platforms and helps investors to focus on the right factors when evaluating the risks related to platforms. Further, the study is ground-breaking by creating a framework for future researchers how to measure, compare and evaluate crowdlending platforms.

5.3 Limitations

The study is quite experimental in many ways and has had many challenges. Although the selection of the lending platform is the investor's most vital decision when investing in consumer and SME loans, academic research have not covered this topic. Perhaps, due to the fact that the lending environment is diverse and the comparability of platforms is complex. The whole crowdlending market is still young and evolving and many platforms have a relatively short history. Further, risks and returns concerning different platforms and different kinds of loan types vary widely, making comparability difficult. Therefore, due to these limitations, this paper is unable to make any concrete conclusions about the lending market.

The biggest problem concerning this field of research is obviously the lack of reliable data as there exists no unified database to measure platform performance. The data of this study might also include various biases. Some respondents in the questionnaire seemed misinterpret certain questions and therefore some responses are not useful. The sample of 19 respondents is also relatively small. Additionally, respondents are diverse, comprising of consumer lenders, business lenders, property lenders and marketplace lenders, making comparability rather difficult. There might be errors in the hand-collected data too. For instance, if a platform hasn't disclosed certain information, e.g. does the platform have a secondary market, on its website, or we were unable to find the information. Therefore, the platform transparency plays an important role concerning on the reliability of the results. Further, we collected the data from only English-speaking platforms, which excluded at least 30 European lending platforms from the dataset. These issues might expose the results to certain biases.

6 EMPIRICAL STUDY AND RESULTS

6.1 Data Description

Table 5 displays the distribution of the answers to the questionnaire as seen by region and the loan types that the platforms offer. Most of the responses came from Balticbased or Nordic-based platforms, as no responses from Eastern Europe or Southern Europe were received. 84% of platforms offer business loans. The young age of the whole crowdlending market can be seen from the average year of foundation, which is 2014. Over half of the respondents operate cross-border, since 10 out of 19 platforms offer loans from multiple countries. Issued single loans vary between \in 25 and \in 11,5 million, whereas loan maturities vary from one month to ten years, being 20 months on average.

Questionnaire	Observations	Proportion
Total answers	19	
Region		
Baltic countries	7	37 %
Nordic countries	4	21 %
the UK & Ireland	4	21 %
Central Europe	4	21 %
Loan types		
Consumer loans	6	32 %
Business loans	16	84 %
Property loans	2	11 %
Invoice trading	2	11 %
Average year of foundation	2014	

In Table 6, the same results are presented from the hand-collected data. Geographically, the sample differs greatly compared with the questionnaire respondents as over half of the platforms are based in the UK or Ireland. The first lending platform in the world, *Zopa*, was founded in 2005 in the UK and the crowdlending market is the most mature in the UK, which may explain this. Further, Baltic countries play a relatively large role given the size of their economies, most

probably due to the lack of regulation which attracts certain kinds of platforms to the region. Southern and Eastern Europe are underrepresented also in this sample, which is due to the lack of English on their website and therefore, the incompatibility of these websites in our data sample. Further, the coverage of Central Europe is small, even though there exist dozens of platforms (Ziegler et al. 2018c). Lastly, this dataset shows that, on average, a European lending platform is founded in 2014.

Interestingly, 15 platforms are marketplace lenders connecting loan originators and investors, and 12 of them are based in Baltic countries. Most of those 12 platforms are based in Latvia, where no regulations apply for crowdfunding. The lack of regulation seems to be a main driver as to why claim rights trading platforms have founded the platforms in Latvia. According to European Crowdfunding Network's report (2017), Lithuania is the only Baltic country where specific regulation and supervision for lending platforms exists.

Hand-collected dataset	Observations	Proportion	
Sample	108		
Region			
Baltic countries	27	25 %	
Nordic countries	8	7 %	
the UK & Ireland	59	55 %	
Central Europe	11	10 %	
Southern Europe	2	2 %	
Eastern Europe	1	1 %	
Loan types			
Consumer loans	40	37 %	
Business loans	56	52 %	
Property loans	41	38 %	
Marketplace lending platforms	15	14 %	
Whereas in Baltic countries	12		
Average year of foundation	2014		

Table 6. Distribution of platforms in the hand-collected dataset.

In Figure 2, respondents to the questionnaire are separated by their year of foundation and measured by the total amount of raised capital. As we can see, the data includes one platform founded in 2010, representing 74% of the total amount of raised capital

of the sample, which is \notin 4.6 billion. Further, two platforms founded in 2018 having only raised \notin 1 million funding together. Therefore, a conclusion can be made that the sample includes both platforms with a long track record as well as newly founded platforms.





Table 7. Platforms by year founded and amount of raised capital, the hand-collected dataset.

Year	Observations	Amount raised, €
2005	1	2 321 865 000
2006	0	0
2007	0	0
2008	2	1 896 000 000
2009	1	455 656 233
2010	5	9 485 776 991
2011	3	5 219 515 030
2012	6	1 890 380 614
2013	12	1 727 047 145
2014	18	1 767 777 862
2015	12	2 953 678 336
2016	13	1 225 164 029
2017	4	54 328 987
2018	3	126 265 905
Total volume	80	29 123 456 133
On average		364 043 202

In Table 7, the hand-collected sample has been divided by the year of foundation. Only 80 platforms out of 108 disclosed the amount of raised capital on their websites. As Table 7 shows, most of the platforms were founded in 2013 or later. When monitoring the cumulative amount of capital raised, 49% of the total amount has been raised by platforms founded in 2010 or sooner, which contains only 9 platforms.

6.2 Credit Risk Evaluation

Investors' biggest risk regarding crowdlending is credit risk. Platforms have a crucial role in controlling credit risk and can be mitigated by a proper borrower selection, proper pricing of loans and by using collaterals. Further, the higher the number of loans on the platform is, the easier investors are able to diversify their investment portfolios.

6.2.1 Credit Scoring Process

Credit scoring differs greatly between marketplace lenders where investors and loan originators trade loans, when compared with conventional P2P platforms which connect borrowers and lenders directly. For marketplace platforms the focus of due diligence is in the loan originator (LO), namely a credit agency who issues the loans. One marketplace lending platform responded, that the due diligence of a loan originator includes: "..(1) LO Customer onboarding & scoring process (2) LO Debt collection procedure (3) LO Various numerical ratios (4) LO Organizational evaluation (5) LO Financial Documents (6) LO Current and possible covenants." In marketplace lending, where an investor buys claim rights from the LO and directly gives the loan to a LO's balance sheet, a proper evaluation of the LO is needed. Further, another respondent stated that the platform evaluates the LO's financials, the LO's credit scoring process and current loan portfolio. What is also typical for marketplace lenders, neither of the respondents rate the single loans on their platforms, they rate only each LO selling claim rights on their platform. It is clear, that the investor's risk culminates to the risk related to loan originator rather than the end borrower, e.g. a consumer or a company, even though the investment is camouflaged to a consumer or business loan.

From the answers of six platforms offering consumer loans, we find that the credit scoring process usually includes dozens of factors. From Table 8, we see that every respondent has borrower's demographics, home ownership and employment status, credit history, net income, current delinquencies, number of inquiries and the outstanding debt checked. Further, five respondents check the purpose of the loan and the borrower's credit rating from credit bureau. The picture of the borrower as well as the written application seem to have smaller influence on the credit scoring.

Further, one consumer lending platform has outsourced the credit scoring process. For two platforms the evaluation process is fully automatic, whereas for four platforms it includes manual work. Only three of the six platforms categorize loans to risk classes according to the level of risk of the loans.

Consumer loans			Business loans				
Observations	6		Observations			16	
	Yes	No			Yes	No	
Public credit rating	5	1	Public credit rating		12	4	75 %
Credit history	6	0	Credit history		12	4	75 %
Number of inquiries	6	0	Latest annual statement		14	2	88 %
Net income	6	0	Latest auditor's report		13	3	81 %
Outstanding debt	6	0	Latest bookkeeping		14	2	88 %
Monthly cash flow	6	0	Current delinquencies		13	3	81 %
Current delinquencies	6	0	Number of inquiries		11	5	69 %
Home ownership status	6	0	Outstanding debt		14	2	88 %
Employment status	6	0	Purpose of the loan		15	1	94 %
Written application	4	2	Financial forecasts		11	5	69 %
The purpose of the loan	5	1	Cash flow forecasts		11	5	69 %
Demographic details (age, gender etc.)	6	0	Ownership structure		14	2	88 %
The picture of the borrower	2	4					
Automatized credit scoring	2	4	Automatized credit		2	14	13 %
Interview	1	5	Interview 13 3		3	81 %	
Risk classification	3	3	Risk classification		11	5	69 %
	Yes	No	Y	Yes	Partly	No	_
Scoring outsourced	1	5	Scoring outsourced	3	4	9	

Table 8. Platforms' credit scoring process, the questionnaire.

When investigating the credit scoring practices of the 16 platforms offering business loans, we see that 69% of respondents classify loans into five or more risk categories, as shown in Table 8. Only for two of the platforms is the credit scoring process totally automatized. Most of the platforms perform the credit scoring by themselves, whereas three platforms have outsourced, and four platforms partly outsourced the credit rating process.

When asking about the data sources used, both consumer and business loan providers answer that part of the data is gathered from the official sources such as credit bureau and part of the data is self-reported by the borrower. Marketplace lenders state, that loan originators takes care of the borrowers' credit evaluation process and therefore, most of the platforms do not perform credit assessment to a single loans provided on their platform. Instead, the platforms evaluate the loan originators, who then sell claim rights.

Those business lenders, who opened up their credit assessment process slightly more, said that their credit scoring models consists of dozens of factors. For example, to the question of how many variables are analyzed in the assessment process and which are the most important, one respondent answered: "Over 30. Equity ratio is the most important. Mixture of quantitative and qualitative factors." In general, the most important variables are financial factors such as capital structure, profitability and liquidity. Moreover, the credit scoring includes usually also the evaluation of qualitative factors such as management experience and ownership structure. If the loans are asset-backed, the platform also evaluates the collateral.

Table 9 shows that 53% of platforms in hand-collected sample declares that they use assets to back the loans partly or fully. Assets include mortgages, cars and personal or company guarantees. Further, 10% of platforms have a provision fund that covers a certain amount of defaulted loans. Additionally, a buyback-guarantee is in use in 21% of the platforms, being a rule of thumb to all 15 marketplace lenders in the sample who offer buyback-guarantees to secure investors' loan payments. What is meant by a buyback-guarantee is that if the loan defaults, the investor is able to sell the loan usually at full price to the loan originator or to a third-party. In Table 10, displaying the results from the questionnaire, we see that the proportions of platforms using asset-

backed loans, provision funds and buyback-guarantees are higher, 89%, 16% and 42%, respectively.

Platform factors	Yes	No	Proportion
Liquidity			
Secondary market	59	49	55 %
Credit risk control			
Asset-Backed loans	57	51	53 %
Provision fund	11	97	10 %
Buyback guarantee	23	85	21 %
Transparency			
Loan book availability	16	92	15 %
Statistics availability	57	51	53 %
Regulation			
Regulated/Supervised	85	23	79 %
Other			
Auto-invest tool	77	31	71 %

 Table 9. Platform characteristics, the hand-collected dataset.

84% of the respondents say that they have set penalty rates for late payments, as we can see from Table 10. The rate varies between 2% and 18% depending on the platform. Additionally, 18 out of the 19 respondents say that they actively manage late payments and try to recover loans. Respondents have both in-house collection teams and outsourced partners. The definition of a default varies a lot according to the responses, since loans are counted as defaulted usually after a certain delay in repayment, varying between 45 and 120 days, depending on the platform policies. It means that after a loan is declared as defaulted, the loan goes to recovery, or is sold to a third-party or loan originator if a buyback-guarantee holds.

Diversification is crucial to mitigate the impact of the credit risk of a single loan to investor's whole loan portfolio. The more that platforms offer loans on their platform, the easier it is for investors to spread their investments across multiple loans. Usually, the number of loans is higher on consumer lending platforms, and the single loan amount on average is smaller than on business lending platforms. On marketplace lending platforms, the number of loan originators on the platform helps investors to manage the risk concerning on loan originators. In the hand-collected data, we found 15 marketplace lenders, and the variation of the number of originators on the platform was between one and 58. Instead of one platform having 58 loan originators, none of the platforms had over 20 loan originators on the platform. Three platforms report having only one loan originator.

Platform factors	Yes	No	Proportion
Liquidity			
Secondary market	9	10	47 %
Fees for lenders	5	4	56 %
Credit risk control			
Asset-backed loans	17	2	89 %
Provision fund	3	16	16 %
Buyback guarantee	8	11	42 %
Penalty rate if delayed	16	3	84 %
Managing late payments actively	18	1	95 %
Transparency			
Loan book availability	10	9	53 %
Regulation			
Regulated/Supervised	13	6	68%
Platform risk			
Debt obligations directly	17	2	89 %
Investors' assets separated	18	1	95 %
The platform is profitable	8	11	42 %
Interest rate risk			
Fixed interest rates	17	2	89 %
Prepayment possibility	18	1	95 %
Penalty rate for prepayment*	3	13	19 %
Other			
Skin-in-the-game	5	14	26 %
Auto-invest tool	13	6	68 %
Institutional investors	15	4	79 %

Table 10. Platform characteristics, the questionnaire.

*for two respondents, the existence of penalty rate for prepayment depend on the agreement

6.3 Platform Risk Evaluation

6.3.1 Transparency

One of the main attractions to the platforms from an investor's point of view is transparency. Since the crowdlending market is young and track records are short, it is important for investors to get reliable information of the borrowers and platforms to build trust and to properly evaluate the riskiness of the loans. We measure transparency by the availability of loan books and statistics of the loan history.

Table 9 shows that only 15% of the platforms in hand-collected data offer loan books publicly available for investors on their websites. When asked the same question in the questionnaire, half of the respondents stated that the loan book is publicly available, but however, we were not able to upload all of content of their loan books. Some respondents sent the loan book to us after signing a mutual Non-Disclosure Agreement. Further, 53% of the platforms in the hand-collected data offer statistics about their loan performance on their website. Similarly, most of the respondents to the questionnaire stated that they report the portfolio performance to investors monthly or quarterly. However, the validity and creditworthiness of the statistics is extremely difficult to evaluate. Therefore, there is a significant lack of transparency in the crowdlending market considering the whole loan portfolio performance, especially for individual investors, who are not able to get the loan book on demand, as institutional investors most likely are, due to a larger business opportunity for a platform.

6.3.2 Skin-in-the-game and Platforms' Business Models

Only very few platforms invest in the loans offered on their platform. Five respondents out of 19, or 26%, have skin-in-the-game on the loans on their platform, as Table 10 shows. For those who have skin-in-the-game, the proportion of the total loan amount varies between 5% and 30%. Further, for marketplace lenders the loan originator usually has skin-in-the-game by keeping part of the loan on themselves, or at least by offering the buyback-guarantee for investors.

It is important to understand platforms' own risk exposure to the lending business in general. According to the survey, most of the platforms earn their income from transaction fees from the borrower, varying between 2 and 7 percent from the raised amount. Additionally, some platforms charge servicing fees from the borrowers during the loan period or takes part of the paid interest rate, varying between 0.5 and 2 percent. The major part of the revenue comes, however, instantly after the funding round and is based on the size of the transaction. Further, marketplace platforms earn a margin

from loan originators, varying between 1 and 4 percent, and they might also take other commission fees for managing the payments.

Platforms getting most of the revenue transaction-based and not during the loan period, might drive them to a morally hazardous position. The more loans intermediated through the platform, the more income the platform receives, no matter how the loans perform. Naturally, in a long-term that kind of behavior would not be sustainable in terms of the platform survival, but it would be better from investors' perspective if the platform also would get the revenue more performance-related during the loan period. In that way, the incentives for both investors and the platform would be mutual. Platforms investing in the loans is one way but not the only way. For example, platforms could change their revenue model towards performance-related commissions.

6.3.3 Supervision and Regulation

We can see from Table 10 that 68%, or 13 out of 19 respondents, say that they are regulated by an official authority. Interestingly, five of six respondents who are not regulated are based in Baltic countries and one in Central Europe. From Table 9 we find, that in hand-collected data 79%, or 85 platforms, are regulated. Regulation itself does not necessarily indicate a good-quality platform, but it can be seen as a feature which mitigates the platform risk. Namely, regulation creates not only a framework how to operate in the market but also a relevant risk protection for investors (European Crowdfunding Network 2017). For example, British regulator FCA demands platforms to set aside regulatory capital to prepare a possible default of a platforms. That kind of regulation is naturally beneficial from an investor's point of view. Further, according to one respondent, Belgian authority demands a continuity strategy from the platforms, in the case that they go bankrupt.

In addition to official regulators, many platforms have founded associations to enhance transparency and self-regulation on the crowdlending market. For example, a Latvianbased respondent answered that even though their platform is not regulated, they are cooperating with the local regulator in order to create a crowdfunding law in Latvia. Therefore, it can be favorable also from platforms point of view to be regulated, in order to improve their creditworthiness and attractiveness among investors.

6.3.4 Loan Agreements and Disaster Policy

17 out of 19 respondents stated that the debt obligations are made straightly between the investor and the borrower, or on marketplace platforms, between the investor and the loan originator (Table 10). It means that the platform is not part of the loan agreement, which is a good thing from the investor's point of view. One platform has a different structure, a securitization vehicle, where investors' money are collected into a fund and the fund is officially the debtor. Instead, the investors, co-own the assets of the fund. Further, one respondent declares that the debtor is officially the lending platform, which can be seen quite alarming from investors' perspective.

Additionally, all the platforms stated that the investors' assets are kept separate from the platform's assets, except the respondent who is having the fund structure. To the question what happens to investor's investments if the platform goes bankrupt, most of the respondent said that they have a run-off plan and that the contract between the lender and the borrower, or the loan originator, holds. Some of the platforms have set some amount of capital aside, whereas some have an agreement with a third-party to continue the operations after the platform's bankruptcy. Due to the fact that the crowdlending market is young and evolving, the platforms are seen as young growth companies, which increases the risk of bankruptcy. In fact, in the questionnaire we asked if the platform made profit in 2018 and 58% of the platforms report that they made a loss in the fiscal year 2018, as can be seen in Table 10.

6.4 Other Risks

6.4.1 Platform Risk Evaluation

Platforms can mitigate the liquidity risk related to loans by organizing a secondary market where investors can buy and sell loans between each other. We found from our hand-collected data that 55% of the platforms offer a secondary market, as shown in Table 9. For marketplace platforms it is less common to have a secondary market,

since only five out of 15 platforms offer secondary market for investors. From the questionnaire, the results are similar, since 47% of the platform reports that they offer a secondary market. It is crucial to understand, that having a secondary market doesn't guarantee the functionality of the market, meaning that someone is on the buy-side. Further, investors might have to sell the loans at a discount and using secondary market might include other fees. In the questionnaire, five out of nine respondents report transaction fees for investors, varying between 0.25% and 1.5% of the loan amount (Table 10).

6.4.2 Interest Rate Risk Evaluation

In Table 10, we find that 89% of the respondents use fixed interest rates in the loans. This seemed to be the norm in a crowdlending market. Two respondents, who use floating rates besides fixed rates, said that the nature of rates vary across investments and that part of the rates are performance-related. Fixed interest rates exposes investors to interest rate risk and borrowers might refinance their loans if the rates go down. When asked about borrower's possibility to prepay the loan and a plausible penalty rate for that, 18 out of 19 respondents said that borrowers are able to prepay the loan, and only three respondents reported that investors receive an additional interest payment (Table 10). Two respondents said that the penalty rate depends on the contract and 13 respondents reported that borrowers can prepay the loan without penalty rate.

6.4.3 Other Risks

68% of the respondents reported having an auto-invest feature on their platform (Table 10). The results with hand-collected data are similar in Table 9, since we found that in 71% of the platforms an investor can use a tool which automatically allocates one's investments according to a pre-set investment strategy. Auto-investing is more common in consumer lending than business and property lending, due to the larger amount and smaller size of loans. These results are well in-line with the crowdlending industry reports presented in Chapter 3 (B. Zhang et al. 2018, Ziegler et al. 2018c).

From Table 11 we see that pricing mechanisms of loans differ quite a lot between platforms. In hand-collected data we found 98 observations, from which 66% of

platforms sets the rate by themselves. Further, 20% of platforms report on their website that they have an auction-based pricing model for pricing the loans. Additionally, 13% report that the loan originator sets the rate of return for investors and all of these platforms were, naturally, marketplace lenders. Only two marketplace lenders reported having a platform-led pricing.

Pricing mechanism of the loans	Observations	Proportion
Questionnaire respondents	19	
Pricing by		
The platforms	9	47 %
The loan originator	3	16 %
The auction	4	21 %
The borrower	1	5 %
The platform and auction	2	11 %
Total	19	
Hand-collected data	98	
Pricing by		
The platform	65	66 %
The loan originator	13	13 %
The auction	20	20 %
Total	98	

Table 11. Loan pricing mechanism, both datasets.

In the questionnaire, 9 respondents, or 47%, reported that interest rates are set by the platform's own credit scoring process, 21% reported auction-mechanism and 11% reported that they are using both auction and platform-led pricing. Three marketplace lenders reported that loan originators set the rate when they are selling the claim rights to investors. One respondent said, that the issuing company itself, meaning the actual borrower, determines the interest rate. There have been complaints about the bid auction-style as it is seen as too complex and less transparent than platform-led pricing of the loans from investors' perspective (Chen et al. 2014). The results support this by showing that most of the platforms use their own pricing mechanism. However, surprisingly many platforms are still using auction in pricing.

In the questionnaire, 15 out of 19 platforms reported that they have institutional investors investing through the platform, as can be seen in Table 10. The proportion

of institutional investments of the total volume varies between 2 and 70 percent in the sample. It is not surprising that most of the platforms have professional investors on their websites, since as previously discussed in Chapter three, there is an increase of institutionalization, but the share of institutional investments could have been larger. However, it might tell more about the diverse sample including relatively young platforms.

7 INVESTORS' CHALLENGES IN CROWDLENDING MARKET

Investors face multiple challenges when investing in consumer loans and SME loans through crowdlending platforms. The short history of the whole market, the lack of transparency and the weak comparability makes it difficult for investors to evaluate the risks and returns that platforms can offer. In any case, the fact is that the crowdlending market provides attractive returns and a great opportunity to diversify an investment portfolio for both individuals and institutions, which drives the market's growth as a new alternative asset class. Inside this asset class risk exposures differ a lot, and investors can choose between consumer loans, business loans, property loans, invoice financing or marketplace lending, which essentially means the financing of credit agencies. Further, investors can diversify their investments in multiple countries, although the regulation in the Europe is divergent from country to country which causes some unnecessary restrictions.

Assuming that investors want to invest passively in some segment of this asset class through platform's own auto-invest tool, the most important decision that investors have to make, is the platform selection. This is a relevant assumption given that, as we can see from Cambridge's industry reports, almost all of the investment in consumer and business loans are made by auto-selection (B. Zhang et al. 2018, Ziegler et al. 2018c). If an investor selects to allocate a portion of her portfolio in consumer loans, she has multiple options across Europe. The only way to get a proper understanding of the returns and risks is to conduct a due diligence check for each of the platforms and compare their characteristics with each other. Due to the lack of transparency, it usually means that she has to contact the platform in person to get the required information, such as detailed information about the credit scoring process, the loan book, platforms own skin-in-the-game to the issued loans and run-off plans in case of a platform failure, just to name a few. Getting the information is probably easier for an institutional investor who have a larger investment capacity, but for individual investors platforms are not willing to open up their operations too much. We also noticed this by sending emails to 139 European lending platforms and receiving only 19 responses.

Even though the investor would get access to the information of the platforms, evaluating risk-return relation is complex, since the comparability of platforms is difficult. Platform practices are different, for instance, when asking how many days a loan payment has to be late before the loan is recognized defaulted. When comparing two consumer lending platforms from different countries, the laws and regulation as well as the general payment habits diverge between nations. Further, part of the consumer lending platforms are marketplace platforms selling claim rights of loans issued by credit institutions, which makes the risk exposure totally different and therefore, also the comparison even more challenging.

Some lending platforms offer 5% annual returns and some as high as 12% returns. Especially when evaluating platforms issuing consumer loans with very high interest rate, investors faces also an ethical problem. Usually, only people who are financially illiterate or already financially distressed, take these payday loans and often, they lead to over-indebtedness or strengthen the financial distress of the consumer. Higher returns naturally attract investors more, but usually the risks are also significantly higher. Borrowers are riskier, which means that the interest rates as well as default rates are higher. Further, the platforms offering higher returns usually lack secondary market and regulation and hence, liquidity of the assets and investor protection is weaker. However, there exists great opportunities also in riskier platforms for investors to earn large returns. To find these opportunities, however, requires a holistic due diligence for platforms.

The fact is also, that no matter how well investors will do their research, there exists a relative large amount of uncertainty when investing on crowdlending platforms. For instance, even though a platform has run-off plans in case of the platform bankruptcy, how smooth does the change of the operator go in reality? Further, if an investor buys claim rights from a loan originator and the loan originator defaults, how does the lender actually get debt down payments, even though theoretically the investor has the claim right? Naturally, uncertainty is always present when investing, but these uncertainties and risks can be mitigated by selecting only platforms operated by financially stable companies or buying claim rights from only financially stable loan originators.

8 CONCLUSION

Crowdfunding as a phenomenon has faced a transition from a non-professional funders' supportive tool to finance projects to a sophisticated investors' alternative investment product. Diverging from its original purpose, investments nowadays in crowdfunding are mostly done in lending-based instruments with platforms' auto-invest tool instead of selecting projects one-by-one, and the motive for investments are usually financial rather than social, e.g. supporting a good cause. Further, the number of platforms providing consumer and business loans has grown rapidly, which gives investors a lot of options to choose from. The comparison of platforms is, however, difficult due to platforms' diverge product offerings and business models, lack of transparency especially in terms of returns and different regulatory environment between countries.

From an investor's perspective, key risks in crowdlending are credit risk, platform risk, liquidity risk, regulatory risk, information risk, interest rate risk, systemic risk and fraud risk. Most of these risks can be controlled by platforms with high-class risk policies. For example, the quality of the credit assessment process, or borrower selection, has a direct influence on credit risk. Furthermore, by offering a secondary market for the loans, a platform can mitigate the liquidity risk that the investors are facing. Also platform risk is lower if platforms are financially stable, they are regulated and supervised, and have run-off plans if they stop operations.

In the study, I find that evaluating risks and returns of platforms is difficult due to the lack of transparency and weak comparability. Most of the platforms are not interested in opening up their credit scoring process, which makes the evaluation of credit risk difficult. Further, most of the platforms are less than 5 years old, which means that they have a short track record, to see the historical returns and default rates. Some risks are, however, easier to measure. For example, in the UK regulation protects investors with multiple rules, which mitigates platform risk significantly. On the other hand, in Latvia, where many marketplace lenders are based, there are no crowdfunding regulation or supervision at all.

This study is seminal by its originality and contributes to existing literature by creating a useful framework how to evaluate and compare lending platforms from investors' perspective. Further, the study gives a wide overview of European crowdlending platforms, their practices and the key risks related to lending-based crowdfunding. No equivalent studies about European crowdlending market or the risks exist in current literature. By measuring and following risk factors evaluated in this study, investors are able to compare lending platforms with each other and understand their own risk exposure better. The only way to get a proper understanding, however, is to dig in to platforms' operations and perform a profound due diligence for platforms before investing, and the methods used in this study give reasonable guidelines for that. This process is naturally easier and more cost-efficient for institutional investors than individual investors.

I believe, and hope, that this study attracts future researches to investigate lendingbased crowdfunding platforms more from investors' perspective, hopefully with better quality data that was gathered in this study. Professional investors are moving more and more to this asset class following great returns and diversification that crowdlending can offer and the most vital decision for investors is the platform selection. The lending market as well as the number of platforms are growing rapidly, but this topic has not yet been covered. Quite a lot of studies are made investigating risks at a loan-level, but researchers should focus more on risks and returns at a platform-level, since that's more crucial from investors' perspective, who usually invests using auto-invest tool. Platform-level investigation includes many problems, such as data problem, weak comparability and the lack of transparency, but the need for deeper understanding of the risks and returns is present, and a far more crucial question to be answered from investors point of view.

- Agrawal, A., Catalini, C. & Goldfarb, A. (2014). Some simple economics of crowdfunding. *Innovation Policy and the Economy* 14(1), 63-97.
- Altman, E. I. (1968). Financial ratios, discriminant analysis and the prediction of corporate bankruptcy. *The Journal of Finance* 23(4), 589-609.
- Bachmann, A., Becker, A., Buerckner, D., Hilker, M., Kock, F., Lehmann, M., Tiburtius, P. & Funk, B. (2011). Online peer-to-peer Lending–A literature. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce* 16(2), 1-18.
- Barasinska, N. & Schäfer, D. (2014). Is crowdfunding different? Evidence on the relation between gender and funding success from a German peer-to-peer lending platform. *German Economic Review* 15(4), 436-452.
- Bayus, B. L. (2013). Crowdsourcing new product ideas over time: An analysis of the dell IdeaStorm community. *Management science* 59(1), 226-244.
- Beaulieu, T., Sarker, S. & Sarker, S. (2015). A conceptual framework for understanding crowdfunding. *CAIS* 37 1-31.
- Belleflamme, P., Lambert, T. & Schwienbacher, A. (2014). Crowdfunding: Tapping the right crowd. *Journal of Business Venturing* 29(5), 585-609.
- Belleflamme, P., Omrani, N. & Peitz, M. (2015). The economics of crowdfunding platforms. *Information Economics & Policy* 33 11-28.
- Cai, C. W. (2018). Disruption of financial intermediation by FinTech: A review on crowdfunding and blockchain. *Accounting & Finance* 58(4), 965–992.
- Chen, N., Ghosh, A. & Lambert, N. S. (2014). Auctions for social lending: A theoretical analysis. *Games and Economic Behavior* 86, 367-391.
- De Buysere, K., Gajda, O., Kleverlaan, R., Marom, D. & Klaes, M. (2012). A framework for European crowdfunding. (1st edition). Amsterdam: Available at: <u>https://www.fundraisingschool.it/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/European-Crowdfunding-Framework-Oct-2012.pdf</u>>.
- Dorfleitner, G., Priberny, C., Schuster, S., Stoiber, J., Weber, M., de Castro, I. & Kammler, J. (2016). Description-text related soft information in peer-to-peer lending – evidence from two leading european platforms. *Journal of Banking & Finance* 64, 169-187.
- Emekter, R., Tu, Y., Jirasakuldech, B. & Lu, M. (2015). Evaluating credit risk and loan performance in online peer-to-peer (P2P) lending. *Applied Economics* 47(1), 54-70.

- European Crowdfunding Network (2017). Review of crowdfunding regulation 2017. Interpretations of existing regulation concerning crowdfunding in Europe, North America and Israel. 3. European Crowdfunding Network. Available at: <u>https://eurocrowd.org/wp-</u> <u>content/blogs.dir/sites/85/2017/10/ECN_Review_of_Crowdfunding_Regulation</u> 2017.pdf>. Cited 22.3.2019.
- Fellow Finance (2018). Listalleottoesite. Available at: <u>https://www.fellowfinance.fi/Styles/Documents/FellowFinance_Esite.pdf</u>.
- Funding Circle (2018). Registration document, Funding Circle Holdings Limited. Available at: corporate.fundingcircle.com.
- Gedda, D., Nilsson, B., Såthén, Z. & Søilen, K. S. (2016). Crowdfunding: Finding the optimal platform for funders and entrepreneurs. *Technology Innovation Management Review* 6(3), 31-40.
- Haas, P., Blohm, I. & Leimeister, J. M. (2014). An empirical taxonomy of crowdfunding intermediaries. Association of Information Systems. Available at: <<u>https://www.alexandria.unisg.ch/234893/1/Haas%20et%20al%20-</u> <u>%20An%20Empirical%20Taxonomy%20of%20Crowdfunding%20Intermediari</u> <u>es.pdf</u>>.
- HE 230/2018 vp. Hallituksen esitys eduskunnalle kuluttajaluottosopimuksia ja eräitä muita kuluttajasopimuksia koskevien säännösten muuttamisesta. Available at: https://www.eduskunta.fi/FI/vaski/HallituksenEsitys/Documents/HE_230+2018. https://www.eduskunta.fi/FI/vaski/HallituksenEsitys/Documents/HE_230+2018.
- Howe, J. (2008). *Crowdsourcing: How the power of the crowd is driving the future of business*. (1st edition)Random House Business.
- Iyer, R., Khwaja, A. I., Luttmer, E. F. P. & Shue, K. (2016). Screening peers softly: Inferring the quality of small borrowers. *Management Science* 62(6), 1554-1577.
- Kallio, A. & Vuola, L. (2018). Joukkorahoitus. (1st edition). Helsinki: Alma Talent.
- Kleemann, F., Voß, G. G. & Rieder, K. (2008). Un(der) paid innovators: The commercial utilization of consumer work through crowdsourcing. *Science, technology & innovation studies* 4(1), 5-26.
- Liu, H., Qiao, H., Wang, S. & Li, Y. (2019). Platform competition in peer-to-peer lending considering risk control ability. *European Journal of Operational Research* 274(1), 280-290.
- Mild, A., Waitz, M. & Wöckl, J. (2015). How low can you go? Overcoming the inability of lenders to set proper interest rates on unsecured peer-to-peer lending markets. *Journal of Business Research* 68(6), 1291-1305.
- Moenninghoff, S. C. & Wieandt, A. (2013). The future of peer-to-peer finance. Schmalenbachs Zeitschrift für betriebswirtschaftliche Forschung 65(5), 466-487.

- Mollick, E. (2014). The dynamics of crowdfunding: An exploratory study. *Journal of Business Venturing* 29(1), 1-16.
- Moritz, A. & Block, J. H. (2016). Crowdfunding: A literature review and research directions. *Crowdfunding in europe*. Springer, 25-53.
- Polena, M. & Regner, T. (2018). Determinants of borrowers' default in P2P lending under consideration of the loan risk class. *Games* 9(4), 82-98.
- Roig Hernando, J. (2016). Crowdfunding: The collaborative economy for channelling institutional and household savings. *Research in International Business and Finance* 38 326-337.
- Schwienbacher, A. & Larralde, B. (2012). Alternative types of entrepreneurial finance. *The Oxford handbook of entrepreneurial finance*. (1st edition) Oxford University Press.
- Serrano-Cinca, C. & Gutiérrez-Nieto, B. (2016). The use of profit scoring as an alternative to credit scoring systems in peer-to-peer (P2P) lending. *Decision Support Systems* 89 113-122.
- TaVM 39/2018 vp. Talousvaliokunnan mietintö: Hallituksen esitys eduskunnalle kuluttajaluottosopimuksia ja eräitä muita kuluttajasopimuksia koskevien säännösten muuttamisesta. Available at: https://www.eduskunta.fi/FI/vaski/Mietinto/Sivut/TaVM 39+2018.aspx>.
- Teply, P. & Polena, M. (2019). Best classification algorithms in peer-to-peer lending. *The North American Journal of Economics and Finance* (in print)
- Verbraken, T., Bravo, C., Weber, R. & Baesens, B. (2014). Development and application of consumer credit scoring models using profit-based classification measures. *European Journal of Operational Research* 238(2), 505-513.
- Zhang, B., Ziegler, T., Mammadova, L., Johanson, D., Gray, M. & Yerolemou, N. (2018). The 5th UK alternative finance industry report. Cambridge Centre For Alternative Finance. Cambridge. Available at: <u>https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user_upload/research/centres/alternative-finance/downloads/2018-5th-uk-alternative-finance-industry-report.pdf</u>>.
- Zhang, J. & Liu, P. (2012). Rational herding in microloan markets. *Management science* 58(5), 892-912.
- Ziegler, T., Reedy, E., Le, A., Zhang, B., Kroszner, R. & Garvey, K. (2017). Hitting stride: The 2nd Americas alternative finance industry report. Cambridge Center For Alternative Finance. Cambridge. Available at: <u>https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user_upload/research/centres/alternative-finance/downloads/2017-06-americas-alternative-finance-industry-report.pdf</u>>.
- Ziegler, T., Suresh, K., Johanson, D., Zhang, B., Shenglin, B., Luo, D., Wang, Z., Wang, W., Chen, H., Alam, N., Ryu, S., Jenweeranon, P., Mammadova, L., Hao,

R., Ryll, L., Huang, E., Hao, X. & Yerolemou, N. (2018a). Cumulative growth: The 3rd Asia Pacific region alternative finance industry report. Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance, Cambridge. Available at: <u>https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user_upload/research/centres/alternative-finance/downloads/2018-3rd-asia-pacific-alternative-finance-industryreport.pdf</u>>.

- Ziegler, T., Johanson, D., King, M., Zhang, B., Mammadova, L., Ferri, F., Trappe, R., Suresh, K., Hao, R., Ryll, L. & Yerolemou, N. (2018b). Reaching new heights: The 3rd Americas alternative finance industry report . Cambridge Centre for Alternative Finance. Cambridge. Available at: https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user_upload/research/centres/alternativefinance/downloads/2018-12-ccaf-3rd-americas-alternative-finance-industryreport.pdf>.
- Ziegler, T., Shneor, R., Garvey, K., Wenzlaff, K., Yerolemou, N., Rui, H. & Zhang, B. (2018c). Expanding horizons: The 3rd European alternative finance industry report. Cambridge Centre For Alternative Finance. Cambridge. Available at: <u>https://www.jbs.cam.ac.uk/fileadmin/user_upload/research/centres/alternativefinance/downloads/2018-02-ccaf-exp-horizons.pdf</u>>.

APPENDIX 1. THE QUESTIONNAIRE SHEET

BASIC INFORMATION

- What is the name of your lending platform?
- In which year was the platform founded?
- In which country is the platform based?
- What type of loans do you provide?
- How much funding in Euros has been raised through the platform by the end of 2018?
- What is the number of loans that has been funded on your platform by the end of 2018?
- From which countries are the borrowers from?
- Is the company regulated by some authority? Which one?
- What is the jurisdiction/applicable law that the platform must obey?
- Does your company invest in the loans on the platform? (skin-in-the-game)
- In what way are the investments made and what is the proportion of platform's investments of the total investing volume?
- Is a Finnish investor able to invest through your platform?
- Do you issue the loans yourself or do you act as a marketplace between originators and investors?
- How many loan originators do you have on your marketplace?
- What does your Due Diligence process for originators include? Please describe the process.
- Do you do Due Diligence for single loans that originators issue on the marketplace?
- Do originators have skin-in-the-game in the loans?

PLATFORM'S BUSINESS MODEL

- From which sources does the platform gain revenue?
- What fees do you invoice from the borrower? How much are the fees?
- What fees do you invoice from the lender? How much are the fees?
- What fees do you invoice from the loan originator? How much are the fees?
- How much was the company's revenue in Euros in 2018? (Preliminary)
- How much was the company's profit/loss in Euros in 2018? (Preliminary)

THE LOANS

- What can be the minimum single loan amount on your platform in Euros?
- What can be the maximum single loan amount on your platform in Euros?
- What can be the minimum single loan maturity on your platform in months?
- What can be the maximum single loan maturity on your platform in months?
- How are interest rates set on your platform?
- The interest rates are
- Do the interest rates that the borrowers pay, go to lenders at full? Or does the platform or the originator take part of it?
- Is there a secondary market for the loans?

- If the lender wants to sell the loan in the secondary market, is there transaction fees for the lender? How much are the fees?
- Are the loans asset backed? What kind of collaterals/guarantees/covenants do you use?
- Do you have a provision fund or compensation fund for the lenders? Does it cost something for the lenders?
- Can borrowers prepay the loan? If yes, is there a penalty rate in case of a prepayment and how much is it?
- If a new loan is not fully invested, do you lend the money in any case?
- Does the platform have an auto-invest feature?
- Do you have institutional investors investing through your platform?
- What is the proportion of institutional investments of the total volume?

BASED ON THE HISTORICAL DATA OF YOUR PLATFORM, WHAT IS..

- The average loan size in Euros?
- The average loan maturity in months?
- The average interest rate?
- The average annual return for the investors?
- The average default rate?
- The average onboarding/qualification rate?
- The average success rate?

TRANSPARENCY AND DEFAULTS

- How do you calculate vital concepts such as "arrears" and "defaults"? When do you consider a loan as defaulted? What is your expected default rate?
- Do you actively manage late payments and try to recover defaulted loans? How?
- Is there a penalty rate for delayed payments?
- How much is the penalty rate for delayed payments?
- Do you have a buyback guarantee for defaulted loans or do you sell the defaulted loans to a third party? What is the buyback percentage of the loan amount? Does it also include interest?
- Is your whole loan book publicly available?
- Can investors get the loan book on demand?
- Does the platform report the loan book performance / investors' portfolio performance to the investors regularly?
- If the platform goes bankrupt, what happens to the lenders' investments? Please describe the process in case of the platform's default.
- Are the debt obligations made officially between every single lender and the borrower? Or is the debtor officially the lending platform?
- Can it be shown that investors' assets (debt obligations, cash balance, other) are separated from the platform's assets?

CREDIT SCORING, CONSUMER LOANS

- What information is collected and analyzed from the borrower?
- Have you outsourced the credit scoring process or do you execute it yourself?
- Does the credit rating process include manual work or is it totally automatic?
- Do you interview the borrower?
- Which data sources are utilized?
- Do you categorize loans to different risk rating categories? (e.g. A-BBB) How many categories do you have?
- How many different variables do you analyse in your credit assessment process in total? Which ones are the most important? Please feel free to describe the credit scoring process.

CREDIT SCORING, BUSINESS LOANS

- Do you have different categories for different types of loans? (working capital, real estate, invoicing, other..) How many categories do you have and what are they?
- What information is collected from the borrower?
- Have you outsourced the credit scoring process or do you execute it yourself?
- Does the credit rating process include manual work or is it totally automatic?
- Do you interview the applicant's contact person?
- Which data sources are utilized?
- Do you categorize loans to different risk rating categories? (e.g. A-BBB) How many categories do you have?
- How many different variables do you analyse in your credit assessment process in total? Which ones are the most important? Please feel free to describe the credit scoring process.